THE PANAMA MASSACRE.
IMPORTANT AND INTERESTING DOCUMENT,

ey ——

Report of the United States Commis-
sioner,

EVIDENCE TAKEN AT PANAMA,

Mr, Corwine’s Advice to Seize the Isthmus.

N —

Panama, Friday, July 18, 1858.

SIR: After a careful, thorough, and impartial inves-
tigation into the facts and circonmstances conmected
with the massacre of American citizens, and the pil-
'age and destruction of their property at and near
the Railroad Station, in the immediate vicinity of
Panama, on the night of the 15th April, 1856, I have
the honor to submit herewith my

REPORT.

I am directed to inquire:

IFirst—As to how the affair commenced, and who
began it ? and to detail ag minutely as possible the
snccessive steps in the riot.

Seccond—Was the assault upon the Railroad Station
and citizens of the United States, and the robbery
and destruction of their properiy, unpromeditated ?
or was it m ade in pursuance of a previous wmrrange-
ment ? ’

Fhird—Was there apy hostile fecling on the part of
the natives or residents of Pundama againgt citizeny of
the TUnited States? and if so, how did it orviginate?
Was it occasioned by any improper conduct of per-
sons passing through Panamna to and from the steam-

' €Y8, on any occasion anterior to that of 15th April ?

|

Fourth—Did the authorities of Panama fail in their
duty to suppress the riot? and if so, was this occa-

- sioned by the confusion of the scenc, or wag it inten.

tional on their part ?

And first, as to the origin of the affair, I have to
state that the depositions of the several witnesses on
this head,—those for instance sworn to and subseribed
before the United States Consul at this place, and the
Vice-Consul at Aspinwall, on the one hand, and those
before the local authoritics of Panama on the other
hand, slightly conflict with each other,—not so much
as to the facts,—Dbut more especially owing to the con.
fused and obscure manner in which the Spanish testi-
opy is given, and its not being as full as was to have
been expected, in view of the deplorable event to
which it refers,

But the accompanying certificates and affidavits of
parties of the highest respectubility, marked A, B, C,
as to the respective characters of these witnesses, for
veracity &c., which ¥ found it necessary to take, in

~order to arrive at the truth, will enable you also to

form a just estimate of the relative value of their
statements.

The only witnesses whose evidence bears directly
upon the origin of the aflair, and who took no part
therein, are ROBERT LAKE, DENNIS SitANNoN, Davip
Fisuer, and Janmes McAvur, all citizens of the United
States. They werc in the employ of the Panama
Railroad Company, engaged in the construction of an
iron launch -fox the use of tho Company, at the place
where the disturbance first commenced. It appears
that McAiun, one of the dcponents, interposed to
prevent trouble between the two parties with whom
the difficulties originated. With thig exception they
took no part in the affair whatever.

They substantially state that about 6 o’clock, or 614
o'clock on the evening of 16th Apri), 1856, they came
out ofthe mcss-house of the Railrond Company togeth-
er from supper, and were standing on the bridge near
the Ironlaunch ; that whilst there, they saw two Amer-
cans, one of whom was apparently intoxicated, ap.
proaching the bridge (near the Iron launch) followed

by anegro, who had a large knifein his hand, "and
who was demanding a dime of one of the Americans
in payment of a watermelon; that the negro spoke
English and used violent lJanguage towards the Amer.
jecan party ; that the demand for the dimo was mads
on the intoxicated passenger, and that his companion
in order to appease the negro, paid him the dime
but that the negro still continued to use insulting lan
guage, brandishing his knife as if to intimidate. the
pagsengers; that the intoxicated passenger the:
drew a pistol, but upon being remonstrated with by
other passengers, he was about putting it into his
pocket, without firing it, or making any other use o
t: that whilst in the act of replacing the weapon in
his pantaloons' pocket, alight-colored native stepped
forward, seized the pistol, and taking it from the pas-
senger, fired it at himj that the shot did not hit the
passenger, hut singed one of the depononts, DENNIS
SiaNNoN, who was standing close by ; that no shots

were fired by any of the passengers at the time ; that
the negro and the native who fired the pistol inume-
diately afterwards, ran towards the huts in the Ciena-
za, and shortly returned with threc other natives,
armed with machettes; that these natives, after
cursing amd using other violent and exciting lunguage,
retired to the Cienagaj that very soon after a Inrge
crowd of negrocs, aymed with stones, machettes, and
other weapons, came down from the huts and com-
menced an attack on McFarland's Ilotel (the Pacific
House) and the Ocean liouse.

This testimony is clear, dircet, and positive, show-
ing conclusively that the first hostile demonstration,
by the actual discharge of a loaded pistol at an Amer-
ican citizen, with evident intent to kill, was commit
ted Ly a colored man, resident of Panama. Aud, as
the deponents were eyve-witnesses of, and not partio
to, the transaction, their evidence should be received
as conclusive,

The next testimony, on this head, is that taken by
the local authorities of Pannna.  And as it accompu.
nies the Governor's official account of the aflair o
15th April, addressed to the Ministers of Foreign Af
fairs at Bogota, it is fair to infer that it is all this Gov
ernment has to offer in palliation or justification o
the conduct of those of ils citizens and oflicials whe
so brutally murdered our unarmed and unofiending
countrymen on the night in question, At least, it is
all that has been published in the official Gazefte o
this place.

The firet withessis Josi: MANUEL LUNA, o colored
man, a native of Paritu, & town in the interior of this
Isthmus, and who was at the time a resident of IPan-
ama, who states that he wasjin the Cienaga, on the
night of the 15th of April, 1856 ; that three or fom
Americans, a little druni, came to where he way, and
one of them took a slice of watermelon, asking how
much it was worth? that he, deponent, told himn
that the price was a real (dime.) That then the
American commenced eating it, and, before finishing
it, threw it on the ground, and turned away, 'that
{he deponent followed him, demaunding the real: that
the Amerienn said, ‘“ don't bother me,” to which the
deponent replied, ‘‘take eare, that here we are not
in the United States—pay me my real and it will be
all right ;* that all this was sn¥d in English, and that
to these remonstrances the American said lhe ¢ would
pay with a pistul shot,” at the same time putting hisg
hand on his pistol. Dcponent then said **if you
have your pistol, I have wy dagger also, and I also
put my hand on it.” That at thispoint he, deponent,
et M1GURL 1IABRATAN, and that he, Maprapax,
put his hand upon the barrel of the American’s pis-
to]l, when he, the American was about to fire on the
deponcnt; that then another American, who, aceord-
ing to the belief of deponent, was & passenger, took
a real and paid for the slice of melon; that then the
deponent turned away, convinced that the matter was
scttled s that whilst he was proceeding to his place,
“ he heard a shot, and, upon looking round, saw
MicoEL HALBRALIAN struggling with the American who
fired directly at said HABRAnAN ; that the strugele re-
sulted in Micuer HaweAnan folling to the ground,
and the Amcricans, above-mentioned, fulling on biw ;
that said MiGurL J1aBrAbAN gob up with the pistol
in hond, went off, followed Ly the Americans to the
" centre of the Cienaga, wher¢ the row then heeame
| goneral,” :

This testimony by no means proves that the shot
was fired by the American, 1'or exwuple, the depo-
nent states that hie ¢ heard a shot,"” and according to
his own statcinent, immediately preceding, that ‘¢ he
had turned away, convinced thut the matber was set-
tled,” itis to be inferred thut he did not see ths
American fire the pistol, and hig subsequent assertion,
thercfore, that ** on looking round " aft¢er he * heard ™
the shot, he saw AnranAN struggling with the Aineri-
can, who fired directly at said 11anranan.' should be
received with caution, i uobt discredits for it will
be perceived that he does not positively state he saw
the American fire the shot: but states it insuch
manner as if it were a fact taken for granted. If hi
evidence proves anything, it goes to corroborate th
statement of RosenTt LAKE, DENNIS SHANNON, DAVID
F1suER and Jas. McALUR, that HABRAUAN fired th
shot, as he evidently is the native referred to in thei
aflidavit, who wrested the pistol from the American
for Luxa distinctly says that Hanranan had th
pistol in his hand when he got up from the scuffie and
wentofffil o | -

~_The next witness who deposed before the local au.
thorities, is BABASTIAN Di1Az, o negro, who is notori-

ous for having obtained in o great lunny instances,

" was arrested and imprisoned at my own ing

. apple.

cousiderable sume- 6f mone PRy ——
‘from Americans ,cr'ossin thb; ‘}2‘&?&{&39 ::t_ggcew,'
completion of the railroad, and for whieg toﬂencatlﬁg .
ing my term of offico a8 Unlted States Consnl af thrg
ore. . . ¢ 3 : e ‘
p* His crime consisted in his hiring mules'to gyr coune-
en, exacting payment.in advance, and ghscond.
ing with the money witliout furnishing the .1nyjes
The accompanying affidavit, marked ‘D, fully getg
forth his character.. . He states in his testimony thag
the dispute arose between a native woman and pp
American passenger about a pineapple, and for which,
he learned the American refused to pays that the wo-
man called to her assistunce o certain man named
Migurs, Hasranansg; that the American having re-
fused either to pay for or return the pineapple, iusult.
ing words passed between them ; that the deponent
endoavored to retire, because he saw all the Ameri-
canf congregating togother, he feared trouble; that -
having got a little away from where he' was,’ e Teard
o pistol shot, and was told it had beeén fired upon
Migurys ITABRABANS, , ST

This i8 the substance of all SAuAsTIAN' D1Az de-
poses to having reference to the origin of the disturb-
ance ; and as Lis testimony consists in‘what he keard

and what he was told, it amounts to nothing, aven if
his character wore unimpeachablo. 1t differs; hows
ever, in .one respect, from the statement of Josg
Manuer LunNA.  Tho latter states.that the dispute
nrose between himself nnd the American about g slica
of watermelon, whilst Diaz says that it was between
a native wonan and the American, und about a pine-
1 now have to speak of Mrcuii HABXANAR, and of
his testimony, the last witness who deposed before
the local nuthorities of this place, respecting the orl-
gin of the difficulty on the 16th April, and who figured
#0 conspicuously in the affair, He, too, I8 ' colored
man, and it will, perhaps, be well to state here, that -
about four days nfter the massacre, which I affirm in
view of the evidence, was the rosult of his rashness,
lie fled the country, conscious, doubtless, of his guilt,
and justly apprehensive that bis crime ‘would meet
with speedg punishment. Ilestales thathe waspass-
ing through the Cicnaga when the dispute was geing
on between Miguet Luxa ond the Americans tha
he observed the Awerienn had o pistol in his hand s
that when the dimme was pald to Luwna, and he waé
returning to his stall where he was solling, he, the de-
ponent, told the American to put up his pistol: that
in place of doin% this he discharged it ng de ‘(;ngnt;
wlho, huving liberated himself, grappled with the
American ; this resulted in the other Americans who -
wero with him, falling upon deponent: that as soon
as he, deponent, could do 50, he took away the pistol
fromthe American, and ran off from amongst them :
ihcy éollowed him'; that he got out of -their way,
vC.y Q. ‘

Ié is perfectly clear to my mind with the evidences
of Laxy, FisuER, SBAUNNON and MoALur before me,
that this man HAanrAnANw, fired the first shot. If he
did not wish to have a difficulty with the Americansg,
why did he remain behind after LurnA, who hnd re-
ceived pay for his slice of melon, nnd who expressed
himself satisfied, or rather that he was convinced the
matter was settled, turned away ¥ He stands convicted
by hig own testimony when he says that he first {iberat-
ed himself " before he ** grappled with the Americans|™
e fails {o stale from twhat or 1when he- ¢ likierated
himself.” This deficiency in his testimony, however, s
happily supplied by Messrs, LAxe, Fisnen, and SHAx.
NON, nud McAvrur, all of whom it will be recollected,
were disinterested, having taken no part in the quar-
rel or fight. They all swear most positively tt]hat:,
whilst the intoxicated American, who had the dispute
with Luxa, was in the act of replacing ‘the pistol in
his pantaloons pocket, beforsit had been fired, g, .
light colored native stepped forward, seized the pistol,
and taking it from the passenger, fired it at him. This
coutld have been no other person. than ITABRANANR, 08
Luxa himself testifics to his having the American’s
Xistoéin his bund when he saw him on the ground,

1C.y &c.

Aside from the discrepancy in HABRANAN's testi-
mony, it is the universal opinion of respectable for.
cigners residing in Panama, that he is notoriously g
had character, and that no faith or credit should be
given to his statement. By the accompanying certif-
icate, marked, of Mr. Paciico, nhighly respectable
native citizen of the country, and who is a lawyer by
profession, as well as practice, showing what Emu-
AN admitted to others, it will be seen that he played
the very part in the commencement of the disturb-
ance, o8 deseribed by LAxEe, Fisner, SmawnoN and
McALur, to wit : that ke fired the pistol at the Ameri-
can who had the dispute with Luna relative to the
piece of melon. I have thus noticed as fully and
completely as possible all the facts and circumstances
bearing on the origin of the difficulty, and shall now
proceed to introduce the testimony of other native
witnesses who have deposed before the local authori-
ties of Panama, bearing on the successive steps of the
riot. The following names comprise all the natives
who have thus deposed : PeprRo Onamo Y Prrez,
JoskE M, Bonpua, Jose M. Ropricurz and Juax
MinrcAno. PEpRO Onamo Y Percz states that he
met at the Plaza of Santa Ana, about 6 o'clock,
P. M., April 15, o group of his countrymen, some
of whom were armed, and on asking them what
the matter was, he,was told, ¢ another 19th of May"—
that on hearing several musket shots in the direction
of the Cienaga, he went thither ; that upon arriving
there, he saw’n mulititude of his countrymen in front
of the Railroad 8tation, but that not one of them
was able to get by or pass the bridge, where copper
launches were in course of construction, as apparently
from the Company's buildings a constant fire was

- kept up on them from among the window blinds ; that
some of those who were there had arms, but not fire-
arms ; that from time to time the alarm produced by
the damages caused by the shots from the Company's
buildings became greater, without, howevey, obliging
them to quit their post, which they maintained, not-
withstanding they took no offensive measures againsé
the Compuny’s buildings; that soon he was joined by
hisg brother, whom he dispatched for the Governor;
tliat when the Governor arrived, he tried in vain to
find out the origin of whathe was witnessing—**he .
cause, to every question he put, he was replied to, now
by showing him a wounded native of the country,
now by informing him of the death of another, now
by asking for arms to repel force by force;™ that he
got scparated from the Governor; that, finally, among
" the houses in the Cienagn owned by Americans, he
fell in with the Governhor againg; that when he snw
the Governor about to follow the U, 8. Consul's Secre-
tary, he, deponent, accompanied him; that he saw
three nien fire revolvers; that he roceived a slight
shot a little below the left groin.  Fearing his wound
was serious, he left.
This Proro OnaMo v PEREz, itappears, by the testi-
mony of RAN RunNrLs, sworn to before the United
States Counsul at this place, was one of the leadin
spirits who incited the mob to deeds of blood an
plunder, for Mr, RAN Ruxn~eLs states most positively
that Mr. Ovanmo v I’erez addressed inflammatory ap-
eals to them, and furnished them with n keg of pow-
der which he had dispatched his brother to town for,
and which was purchased of Prrez, PLANAS & Co. It.
thus appears that, instead of sending his brother for
the Governor, as he avers, he sent him for powder
- with which to supply the mob-—nnd even if he did de-
pute hig brother to request tho Governor to repair to
the Cienaga—it was not donewith thoe view of suppress.
ing the disturbance, but rather {oencourage it. Ior
Mr. Ruxnnris further states that he was present at the
Ciennga wlien Onaxo vy PERez made a speech shortly
after the Governor arrived on the ground, in which he
wrged that functionary to open the Park and jet the
natives arm themselves, ‘
It is a little singular that the dreadful fire he alloges.
to have come f{romn the Knilroad station did not kill
more of the ** multitude,” (mob,) for it is not u likely
story that the Americans, who are generaly skilled in
the use of firearms, would huve fired in such forco ashe
alleges, with such little effect. Tho .oﬂiciul report stutes.
that there were only fivo killed during the whole affair.
Andwe have positive evidence that they were killod
by a4 wounded American, who was pursued by them
from onc of the hotels, a8 he was endeavoring to es-
cape {rom the mob. JUAN MurcApo, a native of the
country, and Lakg, a citizen of the United States,
testify to thisfact. A Jarge number of witnesses
the highest credibility stute most positively that there
wng no firing from the Station buildings, while the
fcw who do admit thove were & fow shots fired from
that quarter, all concur in saying thoy were made in
self-defence, and were of so {feeble n character as to
amount to nothing serious, us the natives were at too
grent distance from the Station-house, prior to the at-
tack on that building, to have been aftfected by any
shotis fired fromit. This isthe testimony of men who
werc engaged in restraining the pussengers from
leaving the station when they had been appealed to,
to go to the Cienaga, outside the railrond station in-
closure, to rescue their countrymen wlio were bei
miurdered by the infurjated mob, while the testimo-
ny of PEDRO OBAMO, be it remembered, i8 that of o
man who was actively employed in urging the mob on
fo acts of murder, and supplying them with materials
with which to destroy life. 1t is also g little singular
that ncither I’rpno OnaMO ¥y PEREZ nor any of the
native witnesses who deposed before the authoritios
of Panama, with the exception of Juan Meroivo,
make any mention of the murder of our defuvnculess
people in the hotels, and the pillago of three establigh-
ments by the mob, * his countrymen,” as be is.
pleased to call thew, ‘

The shot of which he, OnaMo v PEREZ, speaks of -
having received in the region of the grof, was doubt-
less, if fired (of which there is no positive proof) by
an American, was done in self-defence, a8 noarly all
the testimony taken goes to show that thosu of our
countrvmen who were in and near the hotel, situated
in the u(“.iqnag‘a wlhere I’Epro OBAMO Y PEI}EZ 'W{l-ﬂ at
the thoe, had elther gone there {0 rescuo their familios, .
or had been surprised and surrounded by the mob,
and had to muke their way out the bLesf way they
could. Asthisman, PEbRo OBAMO Y PEREZ, WAS 4 Pron-

inent participutor in the thoeriot, {fnot the leading in.
stigator ofit, no importance or credit whatever should
he attached to his testimony, excopt that in ono par-
tieular it corroborates the. testimony of other wit- .
nesses who were with the Governor at the time he
nlleges to have received o shot in-his hat; & point ab
least three hundred yards from the station-house, and
from which it would have been {mpossible for him to
?gva seen that building, or any one in it to hnve seen
JOBE M. BoRnuA, whonoxt testifies, snys but little,
and as his testimony, in reference to the most impor-
tant facts, “consists principally in what he heard, it
would be a waste of time torecapitulate what o says.

The next witness, Jost M. Rovrrauez, states that

when he arrived ot the scene of the disturbance he
found the Governor in- the midst of a great tumult,
trying to restrain the disorder. Ab tho timo whon hgr
THEODORE SABLA, U. 8, Consul's Secretary, ﬂ{:";"d o

speak to the Governor, that he, together with PEDEO

OBAMO Y PEREZ, in pursuance of an lnvit:;lhiongh';""_ﬁg‘(i

ponied or followed the Governor; ﬂmt}v e 1 d-
almost reached the Louse, whero ¢he forelgueiy hag
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-fortified themsalves,

e

Mr. SipLA sdvanced .n step in | gistered ; of these I think from fifty to seventy were | Selves. It was o moment of intense excitement. The | tainly neither could nor would justify the massacre of. | and prevented the loss of . property by the Railroad | Salla  and Mesira. Pedro Obario i Pérey and” José
front and said the Govagioi'h;a'l thers: that those | women and children. - . interposition of the constituted authoritics of the | 15th April laat., - ) 7 LHO T and Steamshi Companies;rélje{; coﬂ]d{iaw prevented | Maria Rod oz actually set out for that office: that

. words were sald in English 'that thoy might not fire ;
" that notwithstanding this, five’ shots were discharged
~"at them; that from this fire Mr. Sasua’ and Mr.,
OBANO Y Perx: were wounded, and the Governor's hat
was perforated with a ball; that after proceeding to
the beach with his wounded friend, be returned to the
place of the disorder; that while passing through one
* of the bye streets some woman cried out to him, “Sir,
' don't proceed, because the people have becomse in-
furiated on hearing that Mr. OBaMO has been
-~ wounded, and, asyou are dressed like a foreigner,
- they may kill you ;" that on arriving at the theatre
of djjr.aorcf;r, he understood that a part of the police
was in the Plaza of Santa Ana ; he ran there in search
- of them ; that from thence he came with them, and
 geveral gentlemen by the side of the railroad that
goes from the bridge to the beach; that on deponent's
‘arrival at the office of th.e Company, Mr. GarruDO,
Chief of Police, occupied it; that it was simultaneous-
‘ly invaded, also, }:{ the populace, and then com-
menced a frightful disorder, which those who wished
to oppose it were unablile to restrain, but they wero
enabled to prevent the burning of the Company's
house, and saved more than one hundred passengers
 ‘whose death would have been inevitable. This wit-
. ‘ness fails to state what house the ¢ foreigners had
* fortified  themselves in.” If he means the gtation-
. house, his statement is at variance with the testz{
mony of every witness who was in that building, an
_ ~whose opportunity for knowing what was_ going gﬂ
‘there was much greater than his. If he refers to the
¢ Pacific House," there is abundant evidence to prove
that at the time Mr. SasLA was shot there were no

Americans in that house, or any other hotel in that
immediate vicinity, as those that were not killed and

 wounded had sought refuge in the Railroad station or
'ita‘;rl;closure. 1t %.*ill, perhaps, bo well to remerk at
~ this point, that the ‘tfortifications to which thig
and other native witncsses refor are three-quarter inch
this being the material

white pine weather boarding 139
with v buildings and hotels are

+with which the Railroa

‘made ! .
. Mr. THEODORE SALLA denies onse or two statements

made by Josx RopRIGUEZ, and explains where he was
when he received the shot in hisleg. He says:

‘t 1did not announce, at that moment, cithor in English
or in any other way, the approach of the Governor, and
conse{}uently a volley could not have been fired at us by

“way of reply, ard much less from the door of the station

~of the railroad, as we were, asl have said, at a distance
from the oflice, being infront, more or less, of the **Pacific

. Eating House'' when I left the Governor, When I re-

ceived the wounid which I have got, I was alone in tie
~ yrincipal street, between the house of MoALnastTER and
~the ** Pacific Eating House,” and it was not by a volley,
- but by accident in the firing that took place hetween a

paxty of the people of the country, that had taken up a
8 lllaoaition further up than we were, end some strangers
swwho were near the honse of MCALLASTER, " .

Mr. RODRIGUEZ, in the foregoing doclaration, ad-
mits two very important facts:

First—That the police aud mob toock posses-ion of
the railroad station-house simultanvously with each
other—showing that if there was not an uaderstanding
between th: m, they at lcast sympathized with oach
other, and had the same object in view—tho murdering

.of our people, and p llaging of property, s the sequel
showed.

Second—That the authorities of the country could
not restrain the mob.

The last native witness examined by the local au-
thorities is JuaN MurcaADnO, and who appears to give
the most direct and truthful account of tte affair in

- the Cienaga, His: eclaration was made on the 16th of

April, the day succeeding the massacre, and is as fol-

lows: On being asked about what he knsyw about what

. took place vesterday in Panama, he replied: That
- yesterday, about six o'clock in the afternoon, while
~deponent was at the railvoad station at Plaza Prieta,

"he saw two Americaps jump out of the window of
- MoFaAR1LAND'S Hotel, (Pacific House,) on account of

stones thrown at the Hotel by natives of Panama;

that they did the same to the Hotel in front, (Ocean

Hotel ;) that a wounded American fired at 2 Paname-

nean: that the same American killad two Paname-

neans who were pursuing him; that a few moments

afterwards a party of Panamefios arrived, armed, who

<charged the Americans; the Americans fled, as well ag
 he, deponent.

. There are three other witnesses whose testimony

the local authorities produce, and upon which they

- seem to rely to corroborate the declarations of their

own people. Their names are ALEXANDEE HENEI-
QUFZ, FReDERICK (iARZ and 1. B, WriLnraus—the
first and second are Jamaicans, and the latter is an

. Americar, HENRIQUEZ and ¥WiLLiAMs have made sup-

plementary affiduvits, in which they deny most posi-
_tively having given such testimony as that published by

- order of the Governorin Spanish. HENRIQUEZ statesin

his affidavit, marked y that the one in Spanish was

‘not read to him, although he requested it might be,

and that the authorities at Aspinwall obliged him to

sign it against his will; that he deposed before the

Prefect at that place, through the public interpreter,
. that he heard the police bugle sounding, and in two

or three minutes after he saw the police and natives

fire upon the railroad station, but that this had been
omitted in his affidavit before the said Prefect; that
on making this statement to the interpreter, that offi.
cial remarked to the Secretary *‘that he had bettef

exclude that part from the testimony, as, if such a

statement were to appear, it would go bard against

the Governor.” Such is one, at least, of the miserable
expedients resorted to, by the authorities of thisg

State, to justify or pallinte the crimes committed by

their lawless countrymen on the night of the 15th of

April last. The Official Gazette, which I inclose, con-
- fains all the testimony which has appeared, in Span-

ish, together with the Governor’s letter to the Secre-

targ of Foreign Affairs at Bogota, which has been fur-
nished to me, at my request, by the Secretary of State
of Panama, accompanied by a note vouching for the

authenticity of the documents therein contained. I

also inclose translations of the Governor's dispatch,

together with all the affidavits that accompanied it,
marked ——,

.. I have thus noticed all the testimony taken by the

local authorities of the State of Panama, with which I

have been furnished, having reference to the origin of

the difficulty, as well as to the subsequent progress of
the riot, with the exception of the declarations of the

Prefect of this Department and the Chief of Police,

‘which accompany the Governor's official dispatch to

the Secreta?r for ¥oreipn Affairs at Bogota. Thess

documents 1 shall notice fully in my review of the tes-
timony which follows, relative to the part borne by
the Governor, the Chief of Police and his posse in the
- masgacre at the railroad station. The evidence on
this head—going to establish the complicity of the

Governor, the Chief of Police, and those under his
<command—is full and coneclusive. A large number of

witnesses, citizens of the United States, as well as
“subjects of Great Britain, together with a native citi-

zen of Panama, have all testified on the subject, and
their testimony is singularly corroborative. Indeed it
will be difficult to find anywhere more concurrent tes-
timony among the same number of witnesses. The

-evidence i8 0 direct, full and satisfactory, that I shall

take occasion to quote largely from it, in order to

show that the conclusions at which I have arrived are

Just and correct.

It appears that immediately after, if not simulta-
neously with the disturbance between the intoxicated
American and HanrAnaxy, in which all accounts con-
cur insaying that no blood was spilt or serious inju-
ries inflicted, the native negroes gathered in large
force in thie Cienagn, armed with muskets, machettes,
knives and stones, and commenced murdering our
citizens indiscriminately, and despoiling and plunder-
ing their property in 2 manner almost too revolting to
record. Nothing would appease their wrath or stay
their fury; defenceless men, women and children were
alike brutally and horribly murdered. They forcibly
entered, plundered, and destroyed everything in the
Pacific House, the QOcean Hotel, and MCALLISTER'S
store, all situated on the Cienaga, and owned by citi-
zens of the United States. It further appears that
the negroes were fully prepared to make an attack on

* our people for the purpose of murder and plunder,
either with or without provocation, (and certainly
the affair between the American and HABRAHAN wag
not a justifiable provocation,) in proof of which it
may be stated that not more than two minutes are
supposed to have elapsed from the time the pistol was
fired during the scufle between these two persons be-
fore the natives coliected in great crowds, armed as
above stated, and commenced the assault upon the
hotels and the passcngers therein. They had evi-
dently agreed upon a signal—the testimony of Mr.
WirLiaM NELSON and others go to prove this—for it
gSeems that no sooner had the American and IIanra-
HAN commenced, than a native wasg dispatched in
great haste in the diractien of the Plaza of Santa Ana,
where most of the blacks reside. It i3 supposed he
wag sent to notify those in that neizhborhood as to
‘what was being enacted at the Cienaga, and give the
signal, for, in an ineredible short space of time, tho
bell in the Church of Santa Ana sounded an alarm,
which appeared to be the signal for the natives outside
the city to assemble and arin themselves, which they
did, as hundreds and thousands of them, most of

whom were armed with such weapons as have already
been described, rushed to the Cicnaga, threatening
vengeance upon the Americans—Yankees, as they

" termed them. Nearly all the witnesses of any credi-

‘oility testify as to these facts.
~ Capt. ALLAN MoLeaN, Agent of the Pacific Mail
Steamsbip Company at this place, and who was pres-
.ent during the riot from its inception to its close, in
his deposition before the United States Consul, gives
. a clear, concise, and evidently impartial account of
‘the affair; and having taken no part in it, save his

- efforts to restore peace and prevent bloodshed, the

most implicit faith should be given to his statements.

- About gix o'clock on the morning in question, T was

standing on R. R. Pier,in company with Mr. A. J. Cen-
ter, Superintendent of . R. R. Co., and Mr. Win. Nelson,
R. R. Co.'s Commercial Agent. .

.- The steamer Taboga was lying at the end of the pier.i ™

"> 'The tide was out, and was not expected to be in sufii-

- “ciently to float said steamer before half-past ten or eleven

- o'clock the same night, ]

" : The Jllinois had arrived at Aspinwall during the morn-

- ng with about 940 passengers, among whom was o large

- mumber of women and children,

-7 _'The triins bad arrived at the station, containing all of
.-théds pasgeugers, with their luggage, the -United States
. youils; and a poriion of freight. . A fourth train, confaining
--ayjuantity of through baggage, and abont 500 packages Ex-
~-Rresd goous, was looked aut.ping.o'clock. ;i 5 siim
3 IIThe mails had been placed in the -launch, in which the
v Wexe to go alongside thesteamer when the tide would ad-.

3 of 1t, a0 also wero the through bagzagaand a portion of

; fre{fht
%‘wa | ﬁodl’ﬁnbama,dblgt.bchlnt;giug 1to the througll]l p:lzlssgng
=} 'had all been delivered to gaid passengers, who had i
’f_:}%ﬁ%ﬂtgg, ix%tending to carry it with them on board the
-1 €aliforiia steamer,

.1;.“ Yo the railroad ficket office, the employes of the Paelfic
e o Tt vaicsmgass Moy of fheag
L e CKe(8 QI L Y . s3c « 1 }'_

A tickets, about five or zix hnndred, had be2n registered
‘{and the possengers holdire them had boea sent on board.
#ofthe Taboga ;. most of the women and children were -
}%-.J -, ) - .

; & large quauntily of bagzuge, checked at Aspin-

4 tick za‘ﬂnt i v ] A e :
AR ALY (415 SRS IE s 5 Y O P 0 Fa SELTE IR AU A AT S s
4, 7Ahout thrée or-four, hundrad . passengers ‘were -in’
gabortthe gtakio

-y T
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thens, orders having: been:given to.registor.their

: in' and }:houses. It is also shown that they were perfectly
B-bousé, waiting torhave their tickets Te- ¢ feuceless; having no nemis with which to defend th

freshment stands outside, but adjacent to the railroad sta-
tion.  Of these, :o%le were: waiting their chance to get to

the ti ( were eating, drinking, &ec.
Soilf} ell‘:e?ri,n?o’moe}gegd' children were in thesa hotels,

whose husbands and protei:_cttlorfi;rwégl}'& tgt the ticket-oflice,
_ ry o 1€ . .
atﬁgg;rngmt&fil&g rggtif]}lé‘ were standing at various points
within the railroad grounds, witnessing the embarkation
of passengers, &c., &c. Among these were Sr. Manuel
Diez. in company with Mr. Ran Runnells, Madame An.
soatigue. and another native lady ; the British Consul and
daughter : the wife of Rev. J. Rowell, (American Minister
at Panams,) with her father, and many of the Cortes
PASSENEETS, waiting in the city for transit to Aspinwall, to-
gether with other strangery and many residents, both for-
; 1ative, . .

m%%xggdo}‘ the above were present at the bcgnpmng of the
Hot. The rest, I believe, left the ground just previous
m;\l;’ far as I had observed, the passengers were of a re-
gpectable class, and orderly. I saw up to thiz time no
drunkenness: 1 saw during the entire night one drunken
man: he wasa passenger, and way aitting on tha steps
leading up the railroad platformn from the Bay : he was
firing o revolver in the air; this was after the commence-
ment of the riot; but before any shots had been fired into
or from the Railroad Station, to the best of my knowl-
edge and belief; I mmade him desist, representing that his
act but increased the confusion, without doing good.

Atabout6 F. M., on the evening in question, (15th inat..)

the preceding statement gives the general condition of af-
fairs in and about the Railroad Station,

‘At this time, while standing on the pier with Mesara.
Center and Nelson, I heard the report of a fire.arm, which
appeared to come from a spot outside, but near to the
gate of the Railroad Station ; it was followed almost in-
stantly by shouting and hallooing from the direction.

.A moment after the report of the fire-arm, I saw a na-
tive man come to the heach, close to the shed covering the
irou scow, (in course of erection by the Railroad Com-
rany,) and run along the same towards the citys I fol-
lowed him with my eye until he passed behind the ice-
house of Mr. Johnson, a distance, I suppose, of about 400
yards ; a few minutes after I loat sight of this native, I
heard a bellin the city ring an alarm, and immediately
thereafter Isaw large crowds coming towards the Rail-
road Station,

From the time I heard the report of the fire-arm until I
saw these crowds collecting, I think not more that ten
minutes elajged.

From the time I heard the said report of a fire-arm until
I heard a moise, which proved to be an assault om she
hotels adjacent to the Railroad Station, I think not more
than five minutes clapsed.

Uron hearing the fire-arm re,Port above referred to, I
sent the Captain of the steamer Taboga to ascertain what
the matter was. 1IIe soon returned, and informed me that
n dispute had arisen between a vendor at one of the re-
freshment stands and a drunken passenger, during which
one shot from a revolver had been fired, but by which
party he did not know.

By the time this report was made to me, the crowds, bhe-
fore referred to, were in plain view tromn tho picer moving
towards the R, R. Station, . .

At this time there were on the pier some thirty to forty
natives, who had been employed by the I’ M. S. S. Co.,
in discharging the freight, baggage, &e., from the cars into
the scows ; some of these men sceing the excited crowds
rushing towards the station, shouting and waving their
arms, jumped from the pier, and started to join them;
they, however, at my order returned, ]

I explained to them that they would only increase the
oxciter‘rilent, and become parties to the riof alreadsy com-
menced,

I then left them in chargeof one of the Company's em-
ployes, and proceeded to the Station-lhouse Ticket-
office, (about 100 yards distant,) in company with Mecasrs,
Center and Nelson. These natives (which I left on the
pier) subsequently, as the riot progressed, left there, How
many of them joined their countrymenin their attack upon
the passzengers, I am unable tosay ; some, I know, did not.

On my way to the ticket-office, I saw a party of men
loading an old iron cannon, substituting for balls and
bullets, (of which none could be obtained,) iron boiler
rivets. This cannon wag, when loaded, carried and placed
outeide of the gate of the Railroad Station, commanding
the street lIeading to said gate from the Cienaga or native
hut town ; it was placed in charge of a reliable man, with
orders to him not to fire it, unless the emergency was great,
the danger imminent—unless, indeed, the natives should
advance on the Station, and could not otherwise be re-
strained and checked in their headlong career of fury, and
desire for murder and plunder.

Before reaching the ticket office, the appearance of a
riot secmed so great, that I dispatched a message to the
Chiet of Police to bring his force on the ground, and at
once,

My messenger was & trusty mative, who, for some time,
has been a workman for me, as head man over our coaling
men ; he was wounded by a ball in his neck while engaged
on his mission--which, however, he executed.

Arriving at the ticket oflice, I found the ticket clerks
engaged in registering tickets, the windowa through which
the passengers handed them being crowded. These win-
dows were on the back side of the building, and away, in
a great measure, from the tumult going on at the front;
and though the passengers were aware that there was a dis-
turbance going on, they had no conception of its serious-
ness.

As for myself, I did not expect that the Station would
he regularly assaunlted.

By this time many shots had been fired, principally by
the natives at the adjacent hotels, and some tew by the in-
mates of those hotels, in self-protection.

1 expected that the police would soon be on the ground,
when I felt it was only necessary for them to draw up in
the clear space between the Station and Cicnaga for guiet
to be restored,

In order to remove the pagsengers, however, as apeedily
ng possible from the vicinity of the excited native popula-
tion, I directed the ticket clerks to put away their books
and papers, and to send the passengers on board the 7'g-
boga.

When I went into the ticket-office, there was excite-
ment and confusion there among some few of the passen-
gers and others who had gone there; I saw some old rusty
muskets taken from the side of this room, (where they had
been hanging for some months,) and attempts made to
load them ; Isaw several pistols in the hands of persons in
{his room ; many were asking for ammunition, though no
one, to my knowledge, could find any; I heard, however,
afterwards, that some was obtained, and that the muskets,
or a portion of them, were loaded.

1 proposed about this time to Mr, Nelson, that we should
endeavor to organize a few of those around to preserve
order and be prepared to defend the Station, should the
police not arrive soon to prevent an attack upon it. This
was found fo be utterly impossible, Ilardly any one was
armed, There was a general feeling of helplessness and
consequent panic among the afirighted passengers,

1 went from the ticket otlfice to the gate of the Station
looking out on the Cienaga. Some twenty were collected
there, among whom I noticed Wm. Nelson, A. J. Center
and Mr. Johnson, of the Panama Railroad Company-, aud
David Corwine, Daniel Knight and 8. K. Ilolman, of the
I’'anama Mail Steamship Company, together with other.
All of these mentioned did all they could to restrain some
tew, who, with pietolg, would rush out in front of the gate
and fire at random amoug the huts of the Cienaga. I
think there were four men about the Station that did thia,
Two, perhaps, were passengers, and two workmen connect-
ed with the Railroad Company.

Every effort was made by myself and the others meng
tioned to restrain these people, explaining to them that we
were all entirely unarmed and defenceless, while the
natives were well armed, and evidently anxious for pro-
vocation to commit murder and outrage: that should they
advance on us in force, we could not keep them back, and
the consequences would probably he the destruction of the
Station, and slaughter of many innocent vietima; theae
reasonings restrained some of those to whom they were ad-
dressed, though not for some time ; a drunken man would
occasionally rush forward before he could be seized, and
firc his pistol ; this was tinally put a stop te, and all was
quict on the defensive at the Railroad Station; I think
ihat one musket was discharged from outside, and to the
right of the railroad-gate as you face the Cienaga ; I judged
z0 from the report, though I did not see the picee,

1 saw while at the gate the iron cannon referred to before
in this deposition, it was planted so az to command the
street leading from the Cienaga to the Station; it wag in
charge of an American, Mr. Willis, who had orders not to
fire it unlesz the natives assaulted the Station. .

During these scenes at the gate, and early in the riof,
some passengers came on the ground in great excitement,
«aying that their families were in the upper stories of the
hotels attacked by the natives. By direction of A, J. Cen-
ter, some men advanced to one of these hotels, and hreak-
ing in the side door, which was out of range of fire, allowed
them to cseape ; at the same time, a ladder was placed at
one of the back and side windows, down which others
escaped. . )

During all these circumstances which I have been de-
geribing ag having occurred abont the gate, many shots
were fired from the Cienaga to the hotels, and towards the
Statior. . o ] )

The edge of the Cienaga i3 lined with trees, behind
which many appeared to have taken up stations, and were
deliberately firing at the Station and those aboutit,

At about 66 o'clock the American Consul, Col. T. W,
Ward, in company with hia Secretary, Theodore de Sa-
bla, appeared on the ground, and joined the party wlgo had
gathered about the R. R. gate, and were endeavoring to
suppress the riot, with the only means in their power, the
restoration of order, quiet, and the prevention of offensive
acts. ) . .

Col. Ward, after informing himself of the general condi-
tion of affairg, sent his Secretary to the Cienaga to invite
the Governor, who was understood to be there, to meet
him, that they might exert themselves in union to suppress
the riot.

The Consul then called on those arpun_d, who were dis-
turbing the peace by shooting off their pistols and shout-
ing, to desist, and keep within the R. R. inclosure.,

Scon afterwards he rode forward towards the Cienaga,
T =uppose, to mect the Governor; about the same time
Wm. Nelson, Esq., advanced along the same road on foof,

After the Congul had ridden forward toward the Cien-
ega, & drunken man, probably a passenger, rushed out in
the eame direction, and fired a pistol down the street;
soon after, the Consul returned, as did also Mr. Nelson,

The fire of the natives on tl"_le Station now increased
considerably, and, for the first time, I thought an assault
would be made; I have orders to the Captain of the
Taboya, and sgpecie launch, and also to Mr. Chief Engi-
neer, Color—all of whoin were with me at the gate, to re-
turn to their commmands along the pier—to have the hot
water hose serewed on, and ready for use—to get every-
body from the pier on board the steamer, but not to fire a
shot, or in any manner to act on the offensive, unless they
were actually attacked, and were compelled to do so, to
repel their assailants. .

Some time before thig, I had invited on board of the
Taboga two native ladiez—Seflores Ansoatigue and Fer-
aud, (who had come from the eity to witness the embarka-
tion}, who were in an exposed poerition on the baleony of
the R. R. Co.'s Mess 1louse; their prescoce subsequently,
probably saved a heavily charged cannonfrom being fired
into the erowd of some gix hundred defeneeless and un-
armed men, women, and children, who had been placed
on hoard of her for aifety and protection,

The passengers ahout the gate now had mostly retired
to the Zaboga, though many had, as it afterward appeared,
gcereted themeelves in the upper rooms of the R, R, houses,
while some had gone into the freight room below ; the fir-

irregular; several of those standing about the gate ainone
those who had heen striving to preserve order, had fallen
the rest had retired to other posts of duty, excepting the
Congul; Wi, Nelson, D, M. Corwine, and myself and
Mr. '\'\’ilhs, who still steod st the hreach of his small can-
Non.

- 'This gives very minutely and correctly, as corrobo-
rated by the statements of other witnesses, the suc-
cessive steps in the riot—firom the commencement,
growing out of the diffeulty between the intoxieated
American and Miguel Ilabrahan, followed by the as-
sault on the Pacific House, Ocean Hotel and” McAllis-
ter's store—the pillaging thereof, the attack on its

“inmates, and the occasional firing upon the Railroad
station-house by the mob. It is shown that the. pas-

having sought refuge on board the steamer Taboga
> and upper and lower rooms of the Railroad station-

! e e eru.

- . . -

Some few passengers were in and about tho hotelaand re-

ing frome the Cienaga at this period was gevere, though

sengers had all retired within the railroad inclosure, .

de.’

country had been inivoked. Trusty messengers had
been dispatched for the police, with the request, as it

will appear, to repair quickly to the Railroad Station

to defend it and other property tliere, as well as the

lives of the American passengers against the assaults

of the infuriated mob. This is a vo
stage of the procecdings, as it involves the
to the complicity of the Governor,
oth'ers of the authorities.

Capt. McLane very graphically describes- what fol-
lowed. He says: |

*Not a sound went from the Station, doubtless each
person there felt that dreandful scenes of magsacre, rapine,
and plunder were inevitable, unless the authorities of the
country could be brought and interposed hetweon: the
reckless and maddened rioters and their innocent, un-
armed and defenceless vietima,

At thia moment the long listened for sound of the bugle
note was heard, bringing reliefto many an aching heart;
we congratulated each other, and in a moment more would
have been outside of the inclosure to welcome our deliver-
e13, when there was poured into the Station a heavy volley
of musketry, accompanicd with savage shouts for blood
this volley was quickly followed hy others; the dreadful
reality came upon us that the police had joined the mob;
in # moment, the police, headed by Col, Garrido, ha
crozeed the clear space hetween the Cienaga and Station-
Houses, and from under the windows of the Tickeot Office
and Freight Iloom, ecommenced firing into them.

At the came time the outzide mob, with somne of the po-
lice in company, entered the Station from the west end,
along the track, firing through it to clear the way, and
broke into thevarious rooms, machetts in hand, and
began their work of murder and plunder,

‘When the police attacked the Station-house, I fell back
behind the old mess house in company with the gentle-
men already named. Upon consideration, we determined
to make an effort to return to the city, find and bring back
{Jhe (tiiovelénor, as the only way the terrible massacre could

e stopped,™

AB ﬁ%ppears from several witnesses, the Chief of
Police among the rest, and the Governor's own ad-
mission in his dispatch to the Secretary for Foreign
Affnirs at Bogota, the attack on the Station by the
police was made in pursuance of his (the Governor's)
orders.

‘When the police took possession of the Station Capt.
McLane, accompanied by the gentlemen named,
then proceeded to tho city in quest of the
Governor, who, it was understood, had left the Ciena-
ga. After some delay and trouble he and Mr, Nelson
succeeded in finding him, and brought him to accom-
pany them to the ground and stop the massacre that
would inevitably rogult from tho joint attack of the
police and modb upon the unarmed and defenceloss pas
sengers. He finally congented. But the order he had
previously given to fire upon and occupy the Station
was st:nictl{l carried out by the brutal wretches who
composed his Police force—nearly every person in the
Station-bouse having been brutally massacred by
them and the mob of which they formed a part. The
Governor was remiss,if not culpable, in other respects,
ag appears by the affidavit of McLran, WiLsoxN
and others. After they had returned from the city,
the former states : .

‘¢ Atthistime I wasinformed that a party on the beach
had a cannon loaded and aimed at the Zaboga, which
they were going to fire. Mr. Nelson explained this to the
Governor ; he proceeded to the spot designated, and there
found a smalliron cannon trained on the Zaboga; the
person in charge of it was Dolores Urriola; the Governor
told him to have it removed, which the said Urriola re-
fused to do, saying that it be’longed to him; The Govern-
or told him if he fired into the Tabopa he wonld kill
some Papama ladies who Mr, Nelson had informed him
were on board of her, Upon this the said Urriola pledged
himself that it should not be fired, though he positively
refused to have it removed from the ground ; I recognized
one of the Cassanova's among those standing about this
cannon,

YWhile the Governor was interfering to prevent the can-
non f{rom being fired, I saw several natives bring to the
beach, close to us, a black trunk, which, within a few feet
of his Excellency, they were endeavoring to break open.
1 did notsec the éovernor interfere to prevent this.”

This brings us to the second question, as to wheth-
or the assault on the Railroad 8tation and citizens of
the United States, and the robbery and destruction
of the property, was unpremeditated or made in pur-
suance of a previous arrangement.

Alarge number of credible witnesses, who have
resided long on this Isthmus, and with whom I am

ersonally aequainted, and to whose statements due
haith and credit should be attached, depose on this

ead :

William Nelson, a citizen of the United States, and
for the last seventeen years a resident of “Panama,
having been interrogated by me, deposed as fallows:
He believes it must have been premeditated, judging
from the tolling of the bell of Santa Ana, which
scemed to be a signal, as immediately afterwards a
crowd of armed men. who ¢vidently assembled in re-
sponse this signal, came down and attacked the hotels
and passengers.

Mr. David M. Corwine, a citizen of the United States,
an atfaché of the Pacific Mail Steamship Company's
Office, and who has resided in Panama since January,
1850, being interrogatecd in like manner, says: He
thinks that the natives had been preparing to attack
the passengers and property of American citizens for
some time previous to 15th April last, for the purpose
of pillage, and would have carried out their inten-
tions without provocation. The disturbance between
the native and passenger relative to the point, precip-
itated their action. They eagerly siezed the oppor-
tunity offered, and under cover of the approaching
night, began and ended the work of pillage and
slaughter. From the slight provocation given, and
the quickness with which the armed mob assembled
and commenced the attack upon the hotels in the
Cienaga without cause, he thinks the affair was the
result of preconcerted action, and he f{ully believes
that the assault on the Railroad Station ata later
hour of the same evening, by the police and mob, was
deliberately planned.

Edward Allen, a naturalized citizon of the United
States, and for the last six years aresident of Panama,
being interrogated in the manner aforesaid, he saith:
There boeing no resistance on tho part of any one in, or
connected with, the freight-house or station, he con-
siders the attack must have been determined upon by
the police and the mob, prior to their comming down.
He was inside the railroad inclosure prior and subse-
quent to the attack, and saw no firing from the pas-
sengers or others upon the mob or police, although his
position was such as would have enabled him to have
noticed if there had been any fromn that point.

T. B3, Williams, a citizen of the United States, ecm-
ployed as a Conductor en the Panama Railroad, being
interrogated, saith: Irom the readiness with which
the natives assembled together, the mode adopted
in signalizing each other, und the promptuess with
which they armed themselves after the signals were
given, I am fully satisfied that the disturbance and
massacre on the 15th April, at the railroad station,
was a preconcerted arrangement, and that it would
have eventually broken out, if not worse, on some
other occasion,

Moses Drinkerhoff, x citizen of the United States, a
Conductor on the Panama Railroad, being questioned,
gaith : He thinks it was premeditated, judging from
what ho saw that night, and he had previously heard
that an attack would some time be made, for the sake
of plunder.

I'dward MacKenzie, a British subject, being interro-
gated, saith: IIe thinks it was unprémeditated, be-
cause, had tbey resolved on any definite time for an
attack, they either would have made it onthe freight-
house, when full of merchandise, or passengers and
specie, from California, but that this opportunity for
plunder was availed of.

Yrederick Anzoutigue, a native-born citizen of Pana-
ma, a merchant, being interrogated, saith: He thinks
it was not premeditated, but that the negroes, being
always armed and prepared to make an attack upon
the whites, availed themselves of that opportunity of
committing the outrage.

Thus it appears thot all these witnesses, with the
cxceplion of Mr. MacKenzie and Mr. Anzoutigue, de-
vlare that the assault upon the railroad station and
citizens of the United States, and the robbery and de-
struction of their property, was premeditated, and
made in pursuance of & previous arrangement., And
even Mr. MacKenzie and Mr. Anzoutigue, although they
think it was not premeditated, agree in saying that
the natives availed themsclves of the opportunity to
plunder and commit other outrages. The latter states
that they are always armed and prepared to make an
attack.

. This brings us to the third question, as to whether

there was any hostile feelings, on thegpart of the na-
tives or residents of Panama, against citizens of the
United States ; whether occasioned by improper con-
duct of persons passing through Panama, to and from
the steamer, on any occasion antoerior to that of 15ih
April,

1Mr. William Nelson, the first witness examined by
me on this head, states that there has, in his opinion,
existed an ill feeling for some time past on the part of
the boatmen and former muleteers, against therailroad
and steamship companies, which feeling doubtless
arose partly from the fact that their services were no
longer required by passengers; the stoamer Zaboga
rendering ithe service of boats formerly used unnecessa-
ry, and the Railroad doing away with transportation
across the Isthmus by mules; he has seen passengers
drunk and behaving improperly, but he has never ob-
gerved anything occur to justify or give rise to such a
massacre as that of the 15th April last.

Captain Allen McLean, the next witness interroga-
ted by me, deposes and saith : IIe thinks there was
a bad feeling existing, on the part of the natives or
residents of Panama, against citizens of the United
States, previous to the 16th April.last; he thinks this
feeling has grown up from some if not all the follow-
ing causes: The Tax Comimissioners between the
Governments of the United States and New-Granada,
in which the latter was defeated, the effect of the com-
pletion of Railroad, throwing out of employment
mules, muleteers, cargadores, laborers, &c., &e., and on
the Railroad Company receiving and forwarding mer-
chandise, passengers, &¢c., which before had been done
by other parties—some of whom were natives; also by
the Pacific Mail Steamship Company using the steam-
er Toboga and lighters in transporting passengers and
inerchandise to and from their steamers, thereby
greatly imparing the business of the native boat-
men and shippers of cargo. 10t :
during the past year, which embraces his period of
gervice and residence in Panama, the passengers to
and from California, crossing the Railroad, have given
any cause of offence to the natives of the Isthinus.
Their stay on shore at this terminus has rare oxceeded
a few hours. Occasionally there have been drunken

important
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Chief of Police and

men amongst them, who have doubtless been offen-

sive, but so far as his observation hag gone, it has al-
ways been to the employes of the steamship and
Railroad Companies, or to each other. S
David M. Corwine next appeared and stated that a
feeling of jealousy may have existed on the part of
gsome of the white natives towards Americans, and in
former years ; prior to the 15th April last, the conduct

of a foew passengers towards the lower class.of natives

may have provoked a bitter feeling against ourpcople.
Fle believes, however, that in past years, the passen-
gers have bad more cause of complaint for bad treat-
nent than the natives, and that if any hostile feeling

He does not think that

did exist on the part of the natives of Panamay it cer- .~ They could Lave saved the

Arthur Mackenzie, & subject of Great Britain, next
deposes and snith: That there has always been a
bad feelingon the part of the negro po ulatﬂm azainst

. h pop g |
the Americans crossing the Isthmus, and that there
have already been sevoral fizhts with them on the
beach at the time of landing or embarking, which was
caused by the conduct of both parties: some of the pas-
scngers when drunk being insulting to the blacks, and
the Iantter, on the other hand, disposed to overcharge
and otherwise impose upon the passengers. Any col-
lision between them might at all times have been pre.
vented, had the aunthorities used the slightest effort to
preservo order by keeping a small police force on the
spot at such times, He further thinks that an ill feel.
ing has been created among the negroes, owing to the
fact that the Railroad Company had made a demand
on the General Government for that part of the sub.
urbs of the city known as the Cienaga, and which is
inhabited by this class, and from which they feared
they would be driven without compensation. ~Also by
reason of the opening of the railroad, and use of the
steamer Taboga having thrown many of them out of
yenlléneratix'c employment which they previously en.
Joyed. .

T. B. Williams, a conductor on the railroal, states
that from the completion of the railroad from Aspin-
wall to Panama, he has invariably considered a hos-
tile feceling existed against the interest of the Railroad
Company and Amecrican citizens generally, residing
on the Isthmnus, He hag always noticed for some timo
past an ill feeling from a large portion of the Paname-
Dos against all foreigners, transient as well ag resident,
and from appearances, a tendency to create disturb-
ances and cause litigation, whenever they could con-
veniently do so. Persons in transit and resident for.
cigners have invariubly acted fairly, candidly and hon-
estly to the Panamenos and natives of the country,
pniying for what they roceived, and often treble itg
value,

Frederick Ansoutigue, a native citizen of Panama,
being interrogated by me, saith : that he has heard bad
fecling expressced by some of the colored population
against Americans, arising out of the conduct of disso-
lute persons crossing the Isthmus; but no suchex
pressions has he ever heard from the respectable por-
tion of the population. | .

Samucl K. Holman, an employe of the Pacific Mail
Steamship Company, saith : Judging from the rude-
ness of the native population towards the Americans,
he thinks that an ill feeling existed, which appears to
have originated partly on account of manv of them be-
ing thrown out of employmeut by the opening of the
Rauilroad ; be has seen passengers acting imprudently
towards the natives at times, but in no way to justify
an attack upon them, such as that of 156th April; the
conduct of Americans and other passengers generally,
has always been orderly and peaceable; he has had
the best of opportunities of seeing how passengers
conduct themselves, having been in the employment
of the Steamship Company for many years; that he
has never known the life of a native to have been tak-
en by an American, nor has he ever seen an American
use a deadly weapon towards a native.

I now come to the fourth and most important ques-
tion :

Did the authorities of Panama fail in their duty?
and if so, was this occasioned by the confusion of the
scene, or was it intentional on their part? Xvery
witness to whom I have propounded this question—
without a single exception—have answered most di-
rectly and positively in the affirmative to the first
clause——all stating that the authorities did fail to sup-
press the riot. And as to the reasons assigned for this
fai]lure, I will allow the witnesges to speak for them-
selves,

William Nelson states that the authorities did fail
to quell the riot; he does not think that when the
Governor came on the ground, he intended attacking
the passengers, but that, after his arrival, he was
alarmed and frightened into giving the order to the
police to advance and fire upon the Station ; and that
this alarm was occasioned by his finding himself in
the midst of the negroes of the Cienaga, most of
whom are said to be his personal enemies. This de-
ponent states from what has been reported to him,
and not from personal knowledge. Heknows that the
Governor armed the people of tho country on the
morning of 156th April.

When they went inside the walled part of the city,
and demanded arms, and that on the following morn-
ing a report being spread that men were coming from
Aspinwall, the Governor gave an order to a body of
negreoes for one hundred muskets, which order was
taken away from them by Ex-Governor Manuel M.
Diaz, in the presence of witness, The attack of
the authorities, tbat 1is, of the police upon
the Station, was unprovoked. The Governor and
polico had been sent for Ly the Agent of the Railroad
and Steamship Companies to quiet the riot which oc-
curred previous to the attack on the Station, and mas-
sacre of the passengers, Prior to the arrival of the po-
lice every thing was quiet at the Station; there was no
firing : the riot was over, but the natives were momen-
tarily expected to return, by the people of the railroad
and passengers, who were all anxiously awaiting the
arrival of the police to protcct them. When the po-
lice arrived, they marched down to within two hun-
dred feet of the Station House, and without giving
notice of any kind, they commenced firing as fast as
they could. Deponent saw them, but did not know
they were the police, but supposed they were part of
the mob. There was no firing from the Station Iouge,
and had the police, instead of firing upon the people
there, marched up to the building, they would have
been hailed as deliverers. Deponent wishes to make
a distinction between the riot amiong the passengers
and natives, and the subgequent organized attack by
the authorities and police on the Station House, which
resulted in the massacre. The first had ceased for at
least an hour, and evcrything was quiet at the Station
House, when the police and mob jointly attacked it.
The first was a riot of mob against mob, the latter an
organized massacre by the order of the Governor, com-
mitted by the police and mob together, In no instance
did the police fire upon the armed natives, The at-
tack was madoe solely on the defenceless passengers,
and the firing by the police on the Station House ceased
when the mob broke into it.

David M. Corwine states that the authorities signally
failed to suppress tho riot; they made no attempt to
doso. Had they performed their duty when first arriv-
ing on the ground, the riot would have been quelled in
the Cienaga. where it began, and had in a great meoa-
sure ended, and the terrible murders in tie Railroad
Station would never have been committed. But, with-
out provocation or cause, they assaulted the Station,
from which not a shot was fired, to iny knowledge,—
and I had good opportunity for judging, never having
left my position at the gate of the Station, from tho
commencement of the original disturbance until the
police and mob had possession of the buildings and
grounds., Every thing was quiet, and, in my opinion,
nothing occurred after their arrival to supcerinduce the
necessity of the attack as made by them on tho de-
fenceless men, women and children in the Station., Ile
does not believe that thie confusion of the scene mis-
directed the efforts of the authorities to qucll the riot—
as he before states, no attempl was made by them to
this end, unless the attack on the Station and subse-
quent murders might be so termed. Two attacks were
made,—the first, immediately after the row about the
fruit, was directed by a mob of natives against the ho-
tels in the Cienaga, then filled by passengers, the na-
jority of whom were women and children. This last-
ed, as near as he can judge, about an hour or more,
and then ceased, in a measure., About twenty min-
utes, or perhaps longer, after the termination of this
attack, an organized assault was made by the police
and the mob on the Station of the Panama Railroad.
1t was in this last attack that most of tho murdered
passengers received their death wounds, at the hands
of the police, and so many were seriously injured.

Frederick Ansoatigue, whom I have previously no-
ticed as a highly respectable native-born citizen of
Panama, states that the only action of any kind on
the part of the authorities which he saw, was the
firing on the station by the Police4 not being in a
position to observe, he did not see any of the higher
officials. He thinks-the Police in firing upon the Sta-
tion acted without provocation. 1lle witnessed the
assault upon the Pacific and other houses adjoining,
and afterwards on the Railroad Station. The assault
commenced on the Pacific House about six o'clock,
and on the Railroad Company about cight o'clock.
The first attack was made exclusively by the mob,
prior to the appearance of any of the authorities. The
attack on the Railroad Station was made after the
arrival of the Police, and by them and the mob, but
he saw none of the higher officials taking part in it.

Samuel K. Holman stutes that there was no attempt
made by the authorities or Police to quell the mob, so
far as he could see, although he was on the spot at
the time the riot commienced, registrating the tickets
of the passengers, and remained there until half past
eight o’clock, and was not able to distinguish Dbe-
tween the mob and the authorities during the sattack.

There were two attacks, one at the lhotels and the
other about an hour after at the Station-house.

Ildward Allen states that the authorities did fail
to suppress the riot, because they took part with the
natives in attacking the Freight and Station-houses.
The Police broke open the door of the store adjoin-
ing the station, and ransacked it, as he has been
credibly informed by persons who saw the occurrence;
and one of them, in forcing open the door, threat-
encd to shoot the boy left in charge of the establish-
ment, but desisted, on learning that he was a China-
man. This occurred after the sacking of the station,
about eleven o'clock, and when the DPolice were in
full charge of the premises, The store of the deponent
was completely rifled of everything it contained.
He says there were two attucks, One on the pas-
sengers at the hotelsand the other on the Station.
The first was made by the mob, before the arrival of
the police, and the second from an hour to an hour
and a half afterwards, was made by the police and
mob together, immediately upon the arrival of the
police on the spot.  An order wasgiven by Mr. Gar-
rido, the Chief of Police, and immediately a volley
was fired by that body on the Station—followed by
cheers from the mob; this was succeeded Dby two
other volleys from the same body, and simultaneously
with the firing of the third volley the police and mot)
together rushed into the Station and the murder and
robbing of the passengers commenced then. After
the sacking of the freight house he saw the police
robbing the bodies of dead and wounded passengers,

7. B, Williams states that to his knowledge, the

aunthoritics made no attempts whateyer_fo suppress |

————

~ the rioters, but could have proveunted it if they wished

to bave done so. e says there were two assaults.
I'here was a cessation for some time between the first
and second attacks when the whole bedy of the police
of Panama made thcir appearance, which was soon
after the alarm was given. From the position occu-
pied by the Governor, the Chief of P’olice and other
officers with the police under their control, they
could have prevented any loss of life among the pas-.
sengers and saved all the property of - the: Company,

- but this th%y positively refused to do,. although re-
do

quested to do. 8o by the United States Consul and
_cfficcrs: of- the. Steamship. and. Railroad - Companies.
baggage of passengers,
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| he says: ** They

the natives from tearing up the track and cutting
down the telegraph wires ; aud they could have sent
men on the road, to. prevent ‘any attack on the Ex-
- press train which was momentarily expected. -

 Two. other witnesses,  Captain Alexander McLane

and Moses Brinkerhoff, the latter a Conductor on the
Railroad, stated substantially the same, as to tho part
borne by the Governor, Chief of Police and those
under his command, a8 tho above witnesses. _—

Arthur McKenzie, not being in a position to observe
what attempt the authorities made to quell the mob,
could state nothing positive thereto. But he, Captain
McLane and Mr. Brinkerhoff, all concur in saying that
there were two distinct attacks in the manner already
described by the other witnesses, R )

Captain McLane and Mr. Brinkerhoff's testimony
on this head, I shall omit quoting, as it would amount
to a recapitulation of the facts sot forth in the fore-
going stalements, I shall therefore close tho testi-
mony of witnesses who deposed before me, by giving
the statement of Arthur McKenzie, with regard to
the. number of attacks made on the passengers, &c.,
during the night of the 15th April lust, I give it be-
cause it differs somewhat from the others in one par-
ticular. Ho says there were twn attacks, the first by
the negroes, immediately around the station, made on
the Pacific and Ocean Hotels, and McAllister's storo.
The sccond on the station by the people who arrived
afterwards and joined them. 1le supposes fifteen
minutes had elapsed botween the first and second at-
tacks. In the second attack the police fired upon the
station, and the negroes came round the rear of the
station on the Ruilroad track when ho loft. Before
the arrival of the police there were a few shots fired
from the station, but not such as to warrant the
attack upon the stuation. These shots, he belioves,
wore mado more with the view of frightening the
liegroesfthalllg ﬁf %}intg avy actual harn, as an evi-
dence of which o WO negroes have been
as killed during the ontire rot eportod

TLe only particular in which Mr, McKenzie's stat 2-
ment differs from the other witnesses, is whero ho 8ays
there wore a few shots fired from the station before
the police srrived, whilst the other witnesses who
bave deposed on the sulject, Messrs. Nelson, David
M. Corwine, Frederick Ansoatigue, Edward Allen and
T. B, Williams, all state there wasno firing from that
quarter. As these gentlemen woro all at the station
during the entire disturbance, and therefors had the
amplest opportunity of observing what was going on
it is fair to infer that Mr. McKenzie may have labored
under a mistake in this particular, or rather he may
have confounded the few shots of which he speaks
with those fired by tho fuw drunken men reforred to
: T & egses, who rushed out of the inclosure
Bioew o tir revolvers at random. At all events,
McKenzie  /not regard the fow shots he alleges to
have been fired from the station as at all serious, for
were not such as towarrant the
attack upon the station.” And in proof of the utter
harmlessness of the shots fired, he further says:
‘“These shots he believes were made more for the pur.
pose of frightening the negroes than of doing any
actual harmy, as an evidence of which only two negroes
have been reported as killed during the entire riot."

There is not then a shadow of proof that there was
firing from the station-houses as clleged by the author-
ities in justification of the agsault upon the buildings
by the Police. There were a few inconsiderato per-
sons who would occasionally rush out of the Railroad
inclosure and discharge their fire-arms at random, and
who entreated the passengers to join them, but were
restrained by the timely interposition of Col. Ward,
the United States Consul, assisted by Capt, Allen
McLune, Wm. Nelson, David M, Corwine, and others.

This is tho concurrent testimony of nearly all the
witnessss, if not all, who have testified on the subject.

I shall now refer to some of the atrocities commit-
ted, by the rioters and membors of the police, as de-
tailed by several witnesses, principally subjects of
Great Dritain, from which it will be seen that the
most revolting crinmes were perpetrated-—such as
murder, rape, pillage, and an attempt at arson.

Robert Lake, a citizen of the United States, and an
employe of the Panama Railroad Company, states that
he saw the police walk up to one man in the dopot,
who was begging on his knees for mercy, and blow
his brains out ; that he saw the police murder another
man in the freight house, shooting him in the side,
cutting bim with their machettes, and then rob him ;
that whilst walking on the platform of the station, he
saw somo natives carry out somo five dead bodies, all
being white men, and take them through the gate to-
wards the Cienaga; between 2 and 3 o'clock at night,
he saw another man cut down between tho Ocean
House and Pacific Hotel, by six_more natives; they
killed bim on the spot and draggod bim off; after
this he saw the natives rob anotherman, and kill him
by the cars.

T. ¥. W, McFarland, proprietor of the Pacific Ilo-
tel, states that he saw the police and mob fire on
crowds of unarmed men, women, and children, who
were standing three or four yards from the inuzzles of
their guns, and then they commenced plundering 3 by
breaking open boxes of Express goods, the doors of
the officers' rooms, the company's safes, &c ; on the
wharf where the steamer Paboga was lying, he saw
two inen shot and fall into the mud; the shots came
{from the Cienaga,

Samuel IIarris, a Dritish subject, states on the
night of the 16th April last, during the massacre at
the Railroad Station, some ladies came on board the
Lady Pougl, which was moored near the wharf of gaid
station, for their own and family's safety, who told
him that their persons had been violated by colored
men, that rape had been committed upon thein that
night ; since then he had heard several colored men
boaﬁt of having ravished women upon the aforesaid
night.

T. Willinm McGuire, a naturalized citizen of the
United States, declares that at the time the Occan
House was broken open, he saw a woman with an in-
fant in her arms, running and crying out for mercy,
pursucd by about thirty of the mob; that a musket.
shot was fired at her, when she screamed, and he sup-
posed she was wounded ; that about three hours after-
wards e went to the place, and, from appearances, it
appeared to him that violence had becu committed
ujpron her person.

John McAllister, whose store was forcibly centered
and sacked by the mob, states that as he pussed his
store on the morping after the 1riot, he saw natives
carrying away and destroying bis proporty ; they wore
engnged in bottling liquors from varioue casks, and
he saw no policemen interfero to prevent it; on
the same day he saw some of the policemen wenring
boots which he knew were,taken from his store.

John V. Dubois, a citizen of the United States, but
for many years a rosident of Panama, states that a
few days after the riot, he had two clocks offered to
him for sule, one by a Policoman and the other by a
native of this country; that onec of the clocks he
identified as his own property, he having left it, as he
states, at McAllister's store, and the other he identi-
ficd as the property of Joseph Lestradc, proprietor of
the Ocean llouse. He knew it to be the property of
said Lestrade, ag he had sold it to him; and that
these parties have not been arrested by the authori-
ties of’ Panama.

Wm. Rohde, a naturalized citizen of the United
States, a resident of Panama for the past six years,
states that he saw large numbers of natives the morn-
ing after the massacre, with stolen property in their
possession, consisting of various articles belonging to
Americans ; and that on the night of the riet he saw
a person in charge of the Police Station, giving arms
to drunken natives, and after they received them, they
repaired to the Cienaga.

1saac Silvena, a British subject,states that he saw in
one of the roows of the Railroad Station, among other
dead bodies, one at the sight of which he was struck
with horror, asfrom every appearance, it was that of
a woman ; her dress had been partly torn off, and she
was lying on her face 3 he also states that he saw the
Police plundering. . _

Margaret Emily Luston, a native of Kingston, Ja-
maica, a subject of Great Britain, says, that on or
about 1 o'clock, on the morning of the 16th of April,
after the riot had ceased, she went to the Railroad
Station, and there, at the office over said Station, she
saw the dead body of & woman, that had a cut on the
left shoulder, the dress nearly torn off, the right thigh
bare and blackened, asif produced by the discharge
of fire-arms ; the body had corsets on, and she knows
it was that of a woman ; she afterwards heard that
the body was taken to Panama. .

Charles B. Clare, a native of Spanish Town, Jamaica,
a British subject, states that, at about 4J¢ o’clock, on
the evening of 16th April lust, he went by the Cienaga,
through a back street, and found a man dead, who
was completely cut up ; deceased had his carpet-bag
near him, which was cut open and cmpty ;s he pro-
ceeded a little further and saw another dead body,
and from thence he counted nineteen more dead
bodies, among which were those of a woman and
child. On arriving at the Railroad Dépot, he saw one
end of the freight house, which they (meaning the
natives) had been trying to fire; he then remarked to
some person with him, that **they had tried to burn
this building ;* * Yes," was the reply, ¢ they tried to
burn McFarland's also, but this the Governor prevent-
ed, saying that if they burnt that, they would burn
their own huts." Immediately afterward he (depo-
nent) entered a door, which wuas broken open, and
saw therein the body of a person ; he approached it,
and found it to be the body of a white woman, which,
with the exception of the corsets, was naked ; the
body had a musket ball in the left groin, the gun hav-
ing been placed close thereto, as all around the wound,
and the whole of the front part of the thigh, were per-
feetly black. Afterwards he saw the dead body of a
child among some iron gutter or pipe; he examined it,
and found it had been cut up by some cutting instra-
ment ; it had two or three wounds in the head, and
the two hands were ontirely cut up.

Such is the history of the terrible attrocities com-
mitted hiere on the night of the 15th April, 1856, a9 de-
tailed by those who were eye witnesses thereto. A.
more revolting picture cannot be presented. The heart
sickens at the recital, and I leave it, thercfore, to
notice what the Governor of this State, the Prefect,
and Chicf of Police have published in vindication of
thelr action in the premiscs, )

I have noticed pretty fully all the decl:1rat10133)¥0rth
noticing that sccompanied the Governor's olh_c;:,:.l.wa
count of the massacre, with the exception of Lhomé l?
the Prefect and Chief of Police. £r. Ramon Gmnbm}.di;
Prefeet, states tliat when bhe arrived at tlvl'E{gcc'nc (; that
“order everything was in such astate of excitement i

e o b S : o find it out; in the midst
it was almost impossible to fid 1t oul, clamor
of the confusion produced by the immonse T
and the shots and stones and bottics thrown I -
. . b «wre made to romove
ferent, directions; that efforts were 1 !
. . tude of individuals wlho ran
from the scene the multitude I
. . 43 tention, which was only effocted
to talke Pmtﬂ" e cc;?os:;}bllc to do so with all; thut
in part, o8 it was 1 blo | X L Aavn
sh(l)rt]y after the ]1011(36 BIIR ed 1‘:29[1; G’Cclrfllﬂ.u{fl ?:0%2‘;(: _
Sabla, Chancellor of the IDO.;IT.!I ey 'iviug |
‘sented himself to éz]‘glg Eﬁggnc;f 1-1;3:-08118111’ 'fh%;t N

] messapge in- v - i Cetnor nf
should pass to the Compuny's office with tho  viow of
sceing if he could put a atop to these (BASLOIE; LA

tho oitizen Vice-Goveruor, agcomipanied.

.-, “- _'I’ |

'I'his is not only confuted by

by the gaid”

on approacb;ng.it, and after Mr. Sabla had announce
that the Governor wos .thcra,_thag fired upon him anﬂ
bis party, wounding Mesgrs., SBabla and Obarlo ; that
' under such: circumstances’ the eitizsn Vice-Governor
ordered tho Chief -of - Police to march and dislodge
thoso who occupied that position;. and 'ihat they, at-
tncked by &aid force, had to yleld, ~ During thia'time,
and for some time after, the infuriated crowd rushed
- on tho North-Americansto sacrifice them, -and sorqe,
perhaps, were so sacrificed. The Prefect fails to atato
whore he, and those to whom he refers, were at the
time, whether in the Cienagn, among the native huts,
orin the immediate vicinity of the Railrond 8tation;
though he evidently intends to convey the impression
that the Governor and his party were noar the Intter
place. Mr. Theodore Sabla, ono of the parties rafer.
red to, says thoy wore in front of the ¢ Pacifis Eating
House." Now, this establishment i8 at least thres
hundred yards from the Station, and is situate in the
Cienngn, swmarounded by cane huts, and from its ral.
ative position to the Station, it were impossiblo that
shots fired from the Iatter, in that direction, could be
effective. DMi. Subla denies the Prefect's statement in
gever:il very important particulars, m a communiea-
tion which was published in the Panamefo n fow days
after the appearance of the Prefect's statement. IHe
BOYS ¢

1. 1 did not give 8 merange to the Governor in the
name of the Conaul of the United States, that he would

pass to the office of the Company to quict tha foreigners,
hut T invited him to come with me to the principal strect

where the Consul awaited him to arrange with him aboul
what wag neceszary to he done to put an end to those dis-
turhances.

2. I did not approach the said office with the Governor,

but we stopped in front of the ** Pacific Kating Houys "

and then 1 left the Governor, telling him I would go on

Dhefore him to prevent any misunderastandings,

3. I did not announce, at that moment, either in English
or in any other way, the approach of the Governor, and
congequently a volley conld not have heen fired at ug by
wuy of reply, and much less from the door of the station of
the railrond as we were, 28 I havesaid, at a good distanca
from the oftice, being in front, mors or less, of the ** Pacific
Eating House” when T left the Governor,

4. When 1 received the wound which I have got, T wax
alone in the principal street, hetween the house of Me-
Allaster, and the ** Pacific Eating House,” and it was not
by a \'nllc,\', but by accident in the firing that fook place
hetvreen o purty of the {uzople of the country, that had
tuken up a position further up than we were, and somo
strangers who were near the houss of MeAlauter,

1 will add that a few minutes before receiving the wouns!
already epoken of, the Consul was on horsehack in the
middie of the street, between the passengers and me; 1
#aw his horse leap and almost tarn round, which made me
think that the Congul, or, at leaat hifs horas, had receives
i wound ; a little after the: Consul left by the beach, and

]I did ‘pot se¢ him more until he returned to his own
101RG,

Mr. Prefect Gambon proceeds to state what he and
other officials, assisted by peaceably disposed citizzns,

did to prevent the further effusion of blood, &c., and
concludes hif report thus :

) “Ihave t‘lirected the Alcalde of the City to draw up the
summary ’ connected with it. I trustin God tho authors
of such attrocious erimes (hid to-day, in the%hade of sueh
confusion,) will e able to be discovered, that the weight
of the law inay fall on their heads, (rod protect you."
That Mr. Gamboa and a few other Panamefios did
all thei{ could to save the lives of the passengers, after
the police had cruelly murdered all t}]ey encountersd
in tho railroad station, is conceded by every Amsrican
residing in Panama. This he might have done in the
first instance had he excrcised due caution aud pru-
dence, It was to him that the message from the offi-
cers of the Raliroad and Steamship Companies, to gend
the police to their relief, to protect them and their
property from the mob, was declivered, and had he
done his duty as an official, he would have directed the
police to have directly proceeded to thestation to pro
:ﬁCt it, l1):11(3 passengers and others from the asgault of
e mob.

One of his own countrymen, Mr. Frederick Ansoa.-
tigue, who was dispatched from the Railroad Station to
the town for the police, states that, upon his arrival
in town, he found the Prefect at the Police Station
about six and a half o'clock P. M., 15th of April, and
told him that the people at the Railroad Station, and
the persons owning property there, wanted the police
down to protect them and their property fromw the
mob. Ilere, then, it is shown, that the Governor, Pre-
fect and Chief of Police had no excuse for assaulting
the Station. The Prefect was requested to send the
police to protect that point. Instead of doing this,
however, by direction of the Governor, they attack it,
and the result is known,—a number of innocent, un-
offending people wers horribly massacred, and not a
shot was fired on the mob. ‘When the Governor, Pre-
fecet, and Chief of Police arrived on the ground, they
gaw three American houses—the Pacific House, Mec-
Allister's store and the Ocean House, all sacked. This
they must have known was the work of their people.
yet no cffort was made to punish the perpetrators; but
the innocent passengers, who had sought refuge from
the infuriated mob in the station-houses, were to be
sacrificed. They were not even allowed to leave, but
were shot down likedogs. Such barbarity on the part
of the Police is without a parallel. It cannot be justi-
fied upon any principle, It will not do for the author-
ities of Panama to say that the people in the station-
houses fired upon the Police. This is disproved by a
dozen credible witnesses, who were in and around
these houses. It was the duty of the Governor asud
Chief of I’olice to have satisfiad themselves of this
fact. DBut no; they must needs take the words of the
rioters, in whose protection they acted throughout,
save when they interposed to prevent any further tak-
ing of life. The Prdfect, in the conclusion of his re-
port, quoted above, expresses the hope that the *¢ au.
thors of the atrocious crimes will be discovered and
the weight of the law fall upon their heads," This all
looks very well, but up to this moment--three months
and upwards since the commisgion of these ‘‘crimes,"
not a native of the country has been arrested, although
the instances are numerous where stolen property has
been found in the possession of many of them,

The declaration of Sr. Manuel Maria Garrido, Chiefl
of the Police, is the next official document published ;
and as it has been effectually answered by Wm. Nel.
son, Esq., in a communication to the Panama Star and
Herald, 1 here insert it entire, with the simple remark
that the most implicit reliance can be placed on every
staterment Mr. N, makes, I have known Mr. N:lson
personally for more than six years, and a more honor-
able, truthful man, cannot be found anywhere. For
many years be discharged the duties of United States
Consul at this Port, and has since filled various posts
of trust. He says:

*“In the Gacela Official of yesterday, I have scen an

flicial communication of Sr. Manuel Maria Garrido, Chief
of DPolice, nnder date of 16th instant, respecting the mas-
sacre of the passengers who were about to embark from
{he Railroad Station on board the steamship John L. Ste-
72:hens on the previous evening, the 15th,

Mr. Garrido commetees his narrative from the time the
muesuere had ceased, though the plundering still contin-
ued, and enlls upon me and other gentlemen who were
present to testify to the truth of his statements, Thus
called on, though with reluctance, I feel myself compelied
to state the facts ag 1 witnessed them.

In the first place, Mr. Garrido states the Amerieans tried
fwice to discharge a cannon (which had previously been
discharged) against himself and the police, In this Mr.
Garrido is mirtaken; the caunon was nof discharged at
all during the evening up to the time 1 left to look for the
Govetnor, and that was after the freight-house and ofice
had been taken by the mob.

1n the second place Mr. Garrido states that he oceupied
himself afterwards in transferring to the Taboga all the
men, women and children, who were in the Company'a
building, and might have been saerificed by the ungovern-
nhle and infuriated niob ¢ that he succeeded in so doing be-
vond his hopes, saving from death over two hundred per-
gons ; that on reaching the door, they were attacked by a
moly, armed with poiguards, who attempted to assassinate
thiem, but he and the police opposed them, eszecorted many
on hoard the Taboga, and that the balance were escorted
to the city by the Irefect, Mr. Gamboa, and other indi.
Vi%ua]s—(ii‘mg as eye-witnessess Mr. Center, Mr. Corwine,
and myeelf.

Tar heit from me to withhold any cradit due to Mr.
Garrido ; I cheerfully testify to the praiseworthy exertions
of himeelf, the Governor, the Prefect, Don Maria Disz
and many others, to prevent further outrage to the paa-
sengers, when the massacre had ceased. Still, heing
calied on for my teslimony, I must state that Mr. Wil
liama war not present at the above seeneat all, I preaume
he refers to Capt. McLane, agent of the Pacific Mail
Stesanship Company, who, together with himself, nscended
the stairs to relieve the passengers who had sought refuge
in the upper story of the building, whilst I remained with
the sentinel at the door to prevgn{- others of the mob or
the police from following ; and it was then and there that
the police pointed their muskets on the building, and
would liave fired on the upper rooms, hut for their being
informed that by ro doing they would kill their own Uom-
mander, who was above, Allof the passengers released
were sent to the Taboga, none came into town; those
rescucd by Mr, Gamboa were others, who had escaped
from the freight-house and elsewhere, i

The preventing the attack on the Zaboga, and disarm-
ing oi; ttl]aat vessel occurred sbefore, and not after, the res-
cue of the passengers, , s

Yinally, Mr. Garrido and his Lieutenant, (,ermleogl
Nunez, pmi';ltiveb]"J assgrud }nt(i thct‘ay had Ii.ined on and at.
tacked the dépot by order of the (zovernor. . .

For the truth of all I state T appeal to the teshtln(l);l)b?f
A. G. Center, Esq., Captain Allan McLane, and 2%

Corwine, Feq. '
So much for Mr. Garrido’s state.'nm:tfwA}cll(}engta‘3
s g N ] rd01| to ﬁre on or oc¢cu AR ¢
the Governor's o 1. Ran Runnels, Wmn.

tion—Messrs, Theo. de Sabln‘. \ > .
Nelson, citizens of the United States, i}nd}c‘_’;}ﬁf&g{‘:
blo PPacheco, a native-born citizon 0'1 \OW- ‘l t this
all testificd befora the United States consul at this
Place that they were {,rescntr at a .f.ion}“orsn '1;(1)1!3 o ;?d
took place between [T I\lfmri n“(.} n}*}*?clilo,’ (_}'f:;gi" of Polico
Copeul and setor 3. Ml L2 ol rmation oo
the do on%ta . Nelson, acted as }uterpiefi‘i’; N id
the Builzl Gnm:ido, upon leing questioned by the 8ai

] ing on the Railrond Sta-
Consul with r({gttl}d;;rgl?alglbfllﬁe repiled that he had

{ion on the 1bth o 8 R iat th ot words
. ’ ‘ he (overnor; a ¢ 0X :
2:1?31 (',‘?-eﬁrg;lsﬂfdt Governor in giving the order were :

o« Advance and take the Station"—** Vaya, oravanzi

. : 0 stacion !*'
! ‘:l‘f;;gfe"iﬁti’é‘fléﬁﬁug that the Governorgave the or-

ich ¢ uch  fearful destruction of humnn
f?;f g w!f‘ljil; lh”il:ali?e%% Bn.dmits the fact in his declaration,
“n((i the Governor admits it himself, with a ahght‘.
i;uuliﬁcntion, in his dispatch to the Minister of Foy-
cipn Affairs at Bogota. Hesays he gave the order to
tnke or occupy the Station, and when nﬁkad by the
Chief of Police, ** And if they fire on me," ho replied,
« Do you likewise."”” This appears to me to be n dis-
tinction without o difference, for 1 believe it is protty
generally understood in military. parlance that whon
an order is given to take or occupy a fort, or at pmd
ticular place, it implies that force isto be uscd, anc
firing is gencrally, if not invariably, o necessay conse-
icnce. | . .
4 The Governor and Chief of Polico fuatzfy their or ucﬁl‘
‘and barbarous conduct in firing on the -Station-h?lllsi
which contnined 80 many tV;innocanta 1%1_&%.1(}32‘03:;}“??
i saying. ere fir . :
beings, by saying .that shots ‘;Gm'ly 0581'5; c{;e ‘t‘t{)‘;”l:‘i
‘witness. who has tostified ‘on the subjectyLu :
1(.:1\0'1‘13'3- 6;?-Bfltish ‘and American Naval ofﬁcerftin, ;Vl‘lli
carefully surveyed the prewises, Thig, roport s+
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ready on file in the Department, and I therefore need .

1 have myself visited the Rallroad Station, and ths acted ag assailants without the slightest provocations

make no further reference toit.

Cienaga several times since my arrival here, and have
- most thoroughly and carefully examined every part of
'ground where tge massacre took place, and the result

is that not a single evidence exists, going to show that
there was any shots fired from the Station-houses.
" Every shot or ball hole in these buildings, was made
from the outside, and from the direction of the Cien-
sga; and must necessarily have been I}’lude by the
natives and Police. Thisis perfectly obvious to every
one who has beenupon the premises. The same is
the case as respects the American houses in the Cien-
‘aga. .Had there been shots fired from the Station, the
two houses in front, situate about two hundred yards
therefrom: The Triangle, owned by Mr. Ansoatigue,
a native of Panama, and the Ocean House, occupied
by Mr. Lestrade, would have shown some evidences of
the fact. Butit is a singular fact, that not a solitary
shot or bullet hqle can pe seen in either on the side
fronting the Station, whilst the other angles of the

Ocean House, (the Triangle was not touched because
it belonged to a native,) fronting the Cienaga, whero

the natives were in force, were literally perforated
with musket balls, so with the Pacific House, and Mr.

McAllister’s store. In his dispatch No. 101, to Com-
mander T. Bailey, of the United states Sloop-of-war
St. Mary's, the- Governor expresses great horror at
the crimes committed, and yet he gave the very order
which led to the commission of the most fearful of
these crimes, for, before he gave the order to advance
arcd take the Station, scarcely any lives had been de-
stroyed; he then fled to the city, and it was with

difficulty that he could be prevailed on to accompany
Capt. McLane and Mr. William Nelson to the scene of
the disturbsnce, with a view to stay the rapacity and
bloodthirstiness of his hired Police. Aund the very
next day, when the negro populace became clamorous
for arms, he issued an order granting their request,
This order was wrested from the negro in whose pos-
session it was, by Manuel M. Diaz, former Governor of
the Yrovince of Panama, and the supposed Governor
elect of the State of Panama, in the presence of Mr.

Nelson, to which fact he has also sworn, as is shown
in the preceding part of the report. Mr. Diaz has also
stated to me in the presence of several gentlemen,
that the Governor did issue such an order and that he
rcquired the negro who possessed it to deliver it up
to him. -

The Governor, in the same communication to com-
mander Bailey, tells that gallant officer, whohad very
properly inquired to know if the Government had the
inclination or ability to prevent the recurrence of simi-
lar outrages to those perpetrated on 15th April, thut
he (commander Bailey) ** should not have doubted for
a moment of his constant disposition to prevent
them " and then, as an evidence of the power and
ability of the Government to protect the traunsit, re-
fers to the guard hecaused to be furnished to the agent
of the Pacific Mail Steamship Company, on two seve-
ral occasions immediately succeeding the massacre of
15th April, to protect the debarkation of passengers,
treasure and merchandise. This guard was composed
in part, of several who took part in the riot of 16th
April, as testified to by Captain McLane, the agent of
said steamship company ; this is the protection that
ssyultures give to lambs—covering and devouring
them.” And, viewed in connection with the admis-
sion of every official who has made a written state-
ment of the affair of 15th April, declaring that the
mob could not be controlled, must convince the
United States, whose citizens have such immense in-
terest at stake here—amounting to upwards of $12,-
000,000 in the railroad and steamship property
alone—that New-(Granada is utterly unable to protect
the transit.

Recently, the Federal Government at Bogota has
ordered a detachment of colored troops to this place,
numbering some sixty; and it is said some hundred
and eighty more are to be sent here also. But, as
both State and Federal Government are impoverished,
it is a question how these troops are to be supported.
I think there is no doubt but that the intention of the
Government is to make the citizens of the United
Statesresorting to this Isthmus, and our Government,
support them, In proofof which I need onlyreferto
the recent enactment of a law, imposing a tax on
mails crossing the Isthmus; and the still more recent

assage of the law at Bogota, exacting tonnage dues
“{rom vessels arriving at both ends of the transit.
.These enactments will affect our mails and our
ships almost exclusively, as both the mails
and ships of Great Britain are, I believe,
exempt from paying the tax, by reason of some pre-
existing arrangement ; and Great Britain and the
United States are the only nations that have steam.
ships trading at this Isthmus., And, again, the State
of Panama imposes upon merchants a monthly tax
for the privilege of doing business within its limits,
which is styled a contribution or commercial tax.
‘Were it equal in its operations, no complaint would
Le urged against it. Butlsuch 13 not the case; forin-
stance, the monthly assessment of Panama, just pub-
lished, shows that 43 foreign merchants, mostly
Americans, are taxed in the monthly sum of $1,223,
whilst 49 native Panamefios are only taxed $515 50,
showing that the foreigners are forced to pay towards
the support of the State Government considerably
more than two-thirds of the taxeslevied, whilst prop-
erty-owners who are in the receipt of large incomes
from rents are not, I believe, taxed at all, 'This, of
itself, as far as our countrymen are concerned, is an
infraction of the existing treaty between the United
States and the Republic of New-Granada, which pra-
vides that the citizens of the former shall be taxed
the same as the citizens of the latter.

I believe I have astully and fairly noticed all the im-
portant testimony that has been taken, relative to the
lamentable affair of the 15th of April last, as wasneces-
saryto a proper understanding of all the facts and cir-
cumstances connected therewith. I have now to eall
your attention toa very extraordinary document which
nas just made its appearance here, doubtless to the
astonishment of its author, who intended it as a pri-
rate vindication of his acts, and who probably never
thought it would see the light of day.

I refer to a lenghthy communication addressed by
$r. Erancisee.de Fabriga, the Governor of this State,
under date of May 3, 1856, to His Excellency Fran-
visco Canulcunh a Albuoguergui, Minister Plenipoten.
tiary of H. M. the Emperor of Brazil, near the Gov-
criment of the United States. This remarkable
d{ocument is published at length in the Oficial Gazette
wi Bogota, Jan. 15, 1856, No. 1,990, by order of the
tovernment. His Excellency the Minister, &c., &c.,
Xe., is requested by Sr, Fabriga to lay it belore the
Calirvet at Washington. Lest, however, His Excel.
lency should omit to do so, I have taken the precau.
tion to have the same translated for the use of the
Department, and inclose it herewith marked ——o.
The Governor makes a very lame defence of himself
in the document. His whole defence consists in mak-
ing assertions unsupported by the testimony of a soli-
tary reliable witness, or by a solitary fact. For exan-
ple, he says: ** The robberies that took place on the
night of April 15 were not the motive to, but the efect
of the disorder; and thathe did not see; or had any in-
formation of any robbery until after the removal of
the passengers to the steamer Taboga.” And this he
declares on his word asa man of honor! Now, it is
a notorious fact, nobody here pretends to deny it—
all the witnesses, without an exception, concur in
saying that the Pucific House, Ocean House and
McAllister's store, were all forcibly entered and
rifled of cvery solitary article they contained, long
anterior to the removal of the passengers to the
steamer Zabogu. And it was long before this, too,
when a native broke open a trunk sn the beach, in
his presence and that of Capt., McLane and Mr.
William Nelson. Yet Governor Fabriga says he
did not! It were & waste of words and time to notice
such palpable prevarications on the part of the Gover-
nor; and as the rest of his assertions are of the same
character as the foregoing, I deem it superfluous to
pay any further atiention to it.

From the evidence elicited I deduce the following
conclusions:

First—That the affuir of the 15th April was begun
by the colored man, MigUrL HABRARAN, firing 2 pis-
tol at the intoxicated passenger.

Second—That the assault upon the pasgengersand
railroad dépét was made in pursuance of a previous
arrangement ; that the dispute and affray relative to
the slice of watermelon was seized on as a pretext by
the colored population of Panama to assault the per-
sons of Americans i transitu, and plunder their prop-
erty, and that of all other Americans with which they
came in contact; but that the assault on the railroad
gtation was, in the language of one of the witnesses,
deliberatery 2lanned by the police and mob, whe con-
jointly made the asgault. This is proven by tbg :{1.
misgion of PEpzo OBURRCO B PERCY, Whp states in his
affidavit that he 52w in the plaza of Santa Ana a por-
tion of tnd police organizing with several citizens, un-
der the order of the authoritics; and Jaxes Crage
algo states that be saw them march thence together
to the Cienaga. Here, no doubt, the plan of attack
was agreed upon; for, no sooner had the police ar-
rived on the ground, than they commenced a destruc-
tive fire on the railroad station; and, simultaneously
with the rioters, they rushed on and took possession
of the premises, destroying everything that they could
lay their hands upon, and massacred in the most bru-
tal manner the defenceless passengers who had sought
refuge therein. All the witnesses who have deposed
in my presence, unite in saying that there were two
attacks—the first by the mob on the American houses
in the Cienaga, and the passengers who were in and
ubout the same ; and the second, after the lapse of
some considerable time, was made on the station
bouses by the police and mob united.

Third—That there was, anterior to the 15th April,
vonsiderable ill-feeling cherished by the colored na-
tives of Panara towards citizens of the United States ;
and that thig ill-feeling was engendered by various

Lauges, such as the cowpletion of the ras
omployment Ly the p P the railroad, and the

o t.he small stewanship Tologe to convey passengers
to and from the landing and ocean steamers by “‘i:liCh
mest of the Llacks were thrown out of emm;v;uent
Fourth—That the authorities of Pansma did ."b
signally fail in their duty to suprress the ot _“tl.[”_"’t
it vould not have Leen hy the cm:fus.ion of :}23 " h‘;
beeause when they arrived o the "rounc1dt1 suin'.,
v:b}_c_h wasconfined to the Cilenaga, h:fd inam mfl lu.t,
" ceased ; and the passengers had, with 1wer£1wl e:t‘ﬂz‘l 0-,
cxceptions, sought refuge on board the ste;r.;;ﬁ:ﬁd ’?’w
- boga, lying alongside the railroad whart and iII: tk?-
rz’:.i.h'.oad station houscs. And tho attack ’hy the policz
zind mob on these huildings was the result of connj.-

-
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acific Mail Steamship Company |

vance.-on the part of the authorities, and -they:thus

forit i8 proven by eye-witnesses to the tranaaction
that there was no firing from the station houses; but
that the police had been sent for expressly to defend
the station against the threatened assault from the
mob ; that the message was delivered to Senor Raxox
GoRMEOA, the Prefect, by Mr. FREDERICK ANSOA-
TIQUO, a highly respectable native of Panama, who
volunteered his services for the occasion; and that,
therefore, the police, instead of affording protection
to the station and the passengers, assaulted them and
united with the mob in murdering and plundering.

Fifth—That the Government of New-Granada is un-
able to maintain law and enforce order on thlis
Isthmus, and afford adequate protection to the
transit.

This is shown by the repeated outbreaks at this
place during the past six years, and by the admission
of the Governor, Prefect and others, that the mob
could not be restrained or controlled on the night of
15th April last.

In view, therefore, of this state of things, and of the
repeated outrages committed upon our countrymen
and their property, as well as the immense amount, of
American capital invested in the Panama Railroad,
the steamships employed in connection therewith, the
great amount of travel and treasure constantly going
by this route to and from our Atlantic and Pacific pos-
sessions, I feel it a duty incumbent on me to recom-
mend the immediate occupancy of the Isthmus, from
Ocean to Ocean, by the United States, as the best
practicable mode to insure safety and tranquillity to
the transit; unless New-Granada, after the proper
representations shall have been made, and the neces-
sary demand made upon her, in pursuance of treaty
stipulations, can satisfy us as to her ability and incli-
nation to afford the proper protection and make
speedy and ample atonement for the wrongs inflicted
upon our countrymen by the pcople and officials of
the Stato of Panama.

The amount of capital invested in the Railroad is
$7,500,000, and in the steamships necarly the same
amount, approaching the enormous sum of $153,000,000.
By the accompanying statement, furnished me
by the Agent of the Pacific Mail Steamship Com-
pany at this place, it will be seen that the total
amount of treasure brought to this place by the stcain-
ships of that Company during the months of January,
February, March, April, May and June, of this year,
foot up $21,333,004 46. Of this sum $17,480,493 83 be-
longed to citizens of the United States, the balance to
British subjects and to parties in Panama.

During the same period the total number of pussen-
gers from the Atlantic States, and conveyed by the
gsame line of steamers to California, was 10,774 ; and
from California to the United States, on the Atlantic,
6,745, making in all, 17,519,

Thus is shown the immense interest citizens of the
United States have at stake on this Isthmus, and of
the absolute necessity of protecting them therein.
Either the plan I have suggusted will have to be
adopted, or else our Government will be compelled to
keep constantly in this harbor, as well as that of As-
pinwall, the Atlantic terminus of the railroad, a ship-
of-war, with an extra marine force, to belandedin
case of an emergency.

The interests our countrymen have here ars too
great to be neglected, and left at the mercy of an ig-
norant, brutal race, such as infest the Isthmus, and
who can neither be restrained nor subdued by the au-
thorities of the country. Nor are they to be driven
hence by the enactment of oppressive, arbitrary laws,
in violation of their rights, guaranteed by treaty.
They need the protecting arin of our own Govern-
ment, and I feel a confident assurance that it will be
extended to them. _

Accompanying you will find a list of killed and
wounded, as officially reported. {

It is believed here that a great many bodies of .
Americans who were murdered have been made way |
with, or secretly buried by the natives, as we have
proof of several who were killed in the massacre whose
bodies were never recovered or identified afterwards.

I also transmit a statement showing the amount of
damages claimed for injuries inflicted on the persons
of our countrymen, and losses sustained in the plun-
dering and destruction of their property on the night
aforesaid.

I particularly call your attention to the petition of
a number of respectable American citizens residing in
Panama, respecting the case of Roserr MARrks, who
was shot while in the discharge of his duty at the
railroad station, and commend it to the favorable con-
sideration of the Department.

1 cannot close this communication without bearing
testimony to the well-directed efforts of TnoMas Wx.
WaARD, Esq., U. 8. Consul at this place, on the night
of the massacre, to restore quiet and prevent the effu-
sion of blood. And in the same connection it affords
me pleasure to mention Capt. ALLEN McLANE, Agent
of the Pacific Mail Steamship Company; Mr. A. J.
CENTER, Superintendent Panama Railroad ; Mr. W,
NEeL8soN, Commercial Agent of the same, and Mr. D,
M. CorwinNEe. All these gentlemen exerted themselves
to suppress the disturbances and alleviate the suffer-
ings of the wounded.

I have the honor to be, Sir,
Most respectfully, your obt. svt.,
(Signed) AMOS B. CORWINE,

To honorable Wi L. MaArcy, Secretary of State,

Washington, D. C.
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